FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/20/2024 4:29 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/27/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No.		
	_	_

Case #: 1037376

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON No. 86762-8-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

DELAURA NORG, as Litigation Guardian ad Litem for her husband, FRED B. NORG, an incapacitated man, and DELAURA NORG, individually,

Respondents,

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Petitioner.

CITY OF SEATTLE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. This Court and the Court of Appeals have long recognized that the voluntary rescue doctrine serves as both a

¹ A list of over 300 licensed emergency medical services providers is maintained by the Department of Health's Office of Community Health Systems. *See EMS and Trauma Publications*, Washington State Department of Health, https://doh.wa.gov/public-health-healthcare-providers/emergency-medical-services-ems-systems/ems-and-trauma/publications#Regional%20EMS%20and%20Trauma%2 ODocuments ("Licensing and Certification Documents").

source of, and limitation on, liability for would-be rescuers, including ambulance service providers. SFD operates a voluntary ambulance service, Medic One, without charge. In a suit against the City alleging negligence on the part of SFD in providing voluntary ambulance services, should negligence be determined by application of the voluntary rescue doctrine or the general negligence standard of liability?

2. Assuming the answer to the first issue is that the voluntary rescue doctrine applies to the claims in this case: Did the trial court commit reversible error by (1) denying the City's motion for summary judgment when there was no evidence that SFD's alleged negligence worsened the harm to the Norgs and that the Norgs did not detrimentally rely on SFD's services, (2) precluding the City from admitting evidence related to the voluntary rescue doctrine, and/or (3) failing to instruct the jury on the elements of negligence liability under the voluntary negligence doctrine as opposed to the general negligence standard of liability?

3. Did the Court of Appeals err in determining that law of the case and *Norg* II precluded the trial court from applying the negligence standard under the voluntary rescue doctrine?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The City's appeal presents an important legal question: whether the voluntary rescue doctrine applies to providers of voluntary ambulance services like SFD. This Court is familiar with the facts of this case, having issued an opinion in it last year. *See Norg* II, 200 Wn.2d at 753-55. The City provides a brief overview of the case as well as of the post-remand decisions for which the City now seeks review.

A. The Norgs Allege Negligence Based on the City's Response to an Emergency Medical Incident.

Mr. Norg experienced a heart attack in the early morning hours of February 17, 2017. CP 150-51, 157. Ms. Norg awoke to Mr. Norg "making really loud sounds" with "[h]is eyes [] wide open and glassy." CP 150. By the time she called 911, Ms. Norg determined that Mr. Norg had "taken his last breath" and

"was gone." CP 151. Ms. Norg provided the 911 operator with the Norgs' address and, within one minute of answering Ms. Norg's call, the operator dispatched three SFD responding units. CP 174, 178-79. The operator gave Ms. Norg instructions to provide cardiopulmonary resuscitation ("CPR") to her husband, which she followed. CP 179-82. The units initially passed the Norgs' residence at the Circa Apartments and went to a nursing home three blocks away, before realizing they had gone to the wrong address. CP 201. They reached the Norgs' residence approximately 16 minutes after Ms. Norg began speaking with the 911 operator. CP 218.

Ms. Norg testified in her deposition that she would not have done anything differently had she known that the responders would take up to seventeen minutes to arrive. CP 113-17 (collecting deposition testimony), CP 152-153. Mr. Norg survived but suffered severe injuries as a result of his heart attack. *See*, *e.g.*, CP 234. The Norgs filed suit against the

City, seeking damages based on the alleged negligence of the City. CP 1-12.

B. This Court Affirms Dismissal of the City's Public Duty Defense and Holds that a Common Law Duty of Care Applies.

The parties filed cross motions for summary judgment regarding the City's affirmative defense under the public duty doctrine. CP 26-43; CP 107-27. The trial court granted the Norgs' motion for summary judgment and denied the City's motion, striking the City's affirmative defense under the public duty doctrine. CP 373-74. The trial court then granted the City's motion to certify the summary judgment ruling for interlocutory review. CP 476-77.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's ruling.

Norg v. City of Seattle ("Norg I"), 18 Wn. App. 2d 399, 413,

491 P.3d 237 (2021), aff'd, 200 Wn.2d 749. In so doing, it
recognized that "[t]he sole issue on appeal is whether the public
duty doctrine bars the Norgs' negligence claim as a matter of
law." Id. at 403.

This Court granted discretionary review and affirmed. Norg II, 200 Wn.2d at 755, 766. As in Norg I, the Norg II Court addressed one narrow issue: "Whether the public duty doctrine bars the Norgs' negligence claim against the City." *Id.* at 755. The Court explained that "[i]f the duty is based on common law and owed to the Norgs individually, then the public duty doctrine does not apply, our analysis ends, and we must affirm." *Id.* at 759.

Accordingly, in *Norg* II, this Court's analysis was limited to the determination that the public duty doctrine did not apply and that the City owed the Norgs a common law duty. *See id.*This Court did not, however, determine the scope of the common law duty owed to the Norgs or explicitly discuss the applicability of the common law voluntary rescue doctrine. *See id.* This Court did, however, rely on two voluntary rescue doctrine cases to support the conclusion that "a common law duty of reasonable care 'arises when one party voluntarily begins to assist an individual needing help." *Id.* at 763 (quoting

Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 674-75, 958 P.2d 301 (1998); then citing Brown v. MacPherson's, Inc., 86 Wn.2d 293, 299, 545 P.2d 13 (1975)).

C. On Remand, the Trial Court Incorrectly Concludes That This Court Rejected the Voluntary Rescue Doctrine.

On remand following the *Norg* II decision, the City moved for summary judgment on the basis that the common law voluntary rescue doctrine applied to this case. Specifically, the City argued that the Norgs could not establish that the City had taken any affirmative action that increased the harm to Mr. Norg or that the Norgs had detrimentally relied on the City such that they were deprived of help from other sources as required by that doctrine. CP 626-35. The trial court denied the motion, concluding that the question of whether the voluntary rescue doctrine applied "was fully before the Supreme Court," and that "[t]he fact that it wasn't specifically analyzed . . . in a way that would have perhaps given more clarity doesn't change . . . my

outlook." CP 695-97; Verbatim Report of Proceedings ("VRP") (June 2, 2023) at 26:16–23.

Before trial, the Norgs served motions in limine that included a request to exclude evidence or statements related to the voluntary rescue doctrine. *See* CP 2159-73. The trial court granted these motions pursuant to a stipulation, which included that the City could make an offer of proof regarding the voluntary rescue doctrine. CP 2159-60.

The City's agreement to the motions in limine was premised on its understanding that the trial court already had ruled that the voluntary rescue doctrine did not apply in this case. *See* CP 2104. Upon further review of the summary judgment order, however, the City determined the trial court did not expressly state that the doctrine was inapplicable as a matter of law. *Id.* Accordingly, the City moved for clarification. CP 2108-16.

While the motion for clarification was pending, the City submitted its first set of proposed jury instructions, including

five based on the voluntary rescue doctrine. CP 2124-49. The trial court subsequently ruled on the City's motion for clarification, stating that its order on summary judgment "is construed such that the common law duty of reasonable care provided in the Voluntary Rescue Doctrine does not apply as a matter of law." CP 2156 (emphasis in original).

The case proceeded to trial with the City unable to present arguments or evidence based on the voluntary rescue doctrine. During the course of the trial, the City filed an offer of proof regarding the voluntary rescue doctrine. CP 2213-17. The City stated its position that "the only common law duty of care it owed Mr. Norg was that of a voluntary rescuer." CP 2214. As such, the City stated that "the jury should be permitted to determine whether the City increased the risk of harm to Plaintiffs beyond what it would have otherwise been, or whether the harm occurred because of the Plaintiff's reliance on the City's efforts." CP 2216; *see also* VRP (Vol. X) at 220:13-226:17. The City's offer of proof detailed the evidence it would

have presented had the trial court permitted the introduction of evidence regarding the voluntary rescue doctrine. CP 2216-17.

When the trial court instructed the jury, it did not include instructions on the voluntary rescue doctrine or any limitations on liability that flow from that doctrine. CP 2250-84. Rather, the trial court instructed the jury regarding a general negligence duty of care. For example, Instruction No. 5 stated that the plaintiffs had the burden of proving "that the defendant acted, or failed to act, in one of the ways claimed by the plaintiffs and that in so acting, or failing to act, the defendant was negligent." CP 2257; see also CP 2265 (Instruction No. 13 defining negligence in terms of failure to exercise ordinary care).

The jury returned a verdict in favor of the Norgs and assessed damages in the amount of \$3 million for Mr. Norg and \$275,000 for Ms. Norg. CP 2276-77. The City appealed. CP 2283-2300.

D. The Court of Appeals Affirms the Trial Court.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's ruling that the voluntary rescue doctrine did not apply as a matter of law. Specifically, the court ruled that, under the law of the case doctrine, both the Court of Appeals and the trial court were bound to conclude that the voluntary rescue doctrine did not apply in this case because this Court had so concluded in Norg II. See Appendix A at 5. The Court of Appeals also concluded that the City had misconstrued the voluntary rescue doctrine, which, according to the court, serves only as a source of liability, and not a limitation. Id. at 7-9, 11. Accordingly, it concluded that the trial court had not erred by (1) ruling that the voluntary rescue doctrine did not apply; (2) denying the City's motion for summary judgment; (3) granting the Norgs' motions in limine prohibiting voluntary rescue doctrine evidence; and (4) failing to instruct the jury on the doctrine, and instead instructing them regarding the general negligence standard of care. *See id.* at 10-11.

V. GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeals decision distorts the voluntary rescue doctrine and expands potential liability for ambulance service providers (and other voluntary rescuers) across Washington. It reached its conclusion by misreading this Court's precedent. The decision further conflicts with other appellate decisions. The court's decision disregards the careful balancing of interests that have undergirded the voluntary rescue doctrine for over fifty years. Because the decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, and presents an issue of substantial public importance, review is warranted under three independent bases. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Eliminates the Important Limitation on Liability in the Voluntary Rescue Doctrine in Conflict with Decisions of This Court and the Court of Appeals.

The voluntary rescue doctrine governs the scope of the common law duty of care when a person or entity undertakes a voluntary rescue. When determining the nature of a duty in a

negligence action, Washington courts "weigh[], 'considerations of logic, common sense, justice, policy, and precedent." See Barlow v. State, 2 Wn.3d 583, 589, 540 P.3d 783 (2024) (quoting Stalter v. State, 151 Wn.2d 148, 155, 86 P.3d 1159) (2004)). By treating the voluntary rescue doctrine as a blunt onoff switch that serves only as a source of liability, the Court of Appeals ignored the careful weighing of interests central to the doctrine. In doing so, the Court of Appeals misapplied the precedents of this Court and the Courts of Appeals, and created confusion about the potential liability of hundreds of providers of ambulance services in Washington. This distortion of the voluntary rescue doctrine provides grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

1. The Court of Appeals Ignored the Careful Balancing of Interests Undergirding the Voluntary Rescue Doctrine.

The voluntary rescue doctrine is set forth in the Restatement of Torts and serves as an important source of, and limitation on, liability for persons and entities that voluntarily

choose to rescue persons in need. The Restatement provides that:

One who undertakes, gratuitously or for consideration, to render services to another which he should recognize as necessary for the protection of the other's person or things, is subject to liability to the other for physical harm resulting from his failure to exercise reasonable care to perform his undertaking, if

- a. his failure to exercise such care increases the risk of such harm, or
- b. the harm is suffered because of the other's reliance upon the undertaking.

Restatement (Second) of Torts §323; *see also id.*, §324A (following the framework above for "liability to [a] third person" where the rescuer also "has undertaken to perform a duty owed by the other to the third person").

For more than 50 years, Washington courts have applied the voluntary rescue doctrine in appropriate negligence cases. *See, e.g., Brown*, 86 Wn.2d at 299 (1975) (citing cases and Restatement (Second) of Torts §323); *Folsom*, 135 Wn.2d at 675-76 (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts §324A at length); *Osborn v. Mason Cnty.*, 157 Wn.2d 18, 28, 134 P.3d

197 (2006) (recognizing that "the rescue doctrine" applies to both public and private entities); *Meneely v. S.R. Smith, Inc.*, 101 Wn. App. 845, 856, 5 P.3d 49 (2000) ("The voluntary rescue doctrine is a well established liability concept.").

Consistent with the Restatement, Washington courts have applied the voluntary rescue doctrine as both a source of, and a limitation on, liability in negligence claims. On the one hand, Washington courts have recognized that there generally is no duty to rescue under Washington law. See Folsom, 135 Wn.2d at 674 ("Under traditional tort law, absent affirmative conduct or a special relationship, no legal duty to come to the aid of a stranger exists."). On the other hand, courts have recognized that where a rescuer takes affirmative action that increases the harm to the person in need, liability may arise. See id. (identifying "affirmative conduct" or "a special relationship" as the source of the duty); Brown, 86 Wn.2d at 299 (noting that where a rescuer "increases the risk of harm to those he is trying to assist, he is liable for any physical damages he causes"). The Folsom Court summarized the circumstances where liability exists for a voluntary rescue as follows:

Typically, liability for attempting a voluntary rescue has been found when the defendant makes the plaintiff's situation worse by: (1) increasing the danger; (2) misleading the plaintiff into believing the danger had been removed; or (3) depriving the plaintiff of the possibility of help from other sources.

135 Wn.2d at 676 (citing W. Page Keeton et al., *Prosser and Keeton on the Law of Torts*, § 56 (5th ed. 1984)). Washington courts have applied the voluntary rescue doctrine to determine the duty of care owed in voluntary rescues by both public and private parties. *See Brown*, 86 Wn.2d at 295 (discussing voluntary rescue doctrine in analysis of plaintiff's "commonlaw theories of the State's liability"); *Folsom*, 135 Wn.2d at 673-74 (discussing doctrine in context of private security company's liability).

Importantly, because the voluntary rescue doctrine recognizes that there is no duty to rescue, liability attaches to affirmative acts, not omissions. *See Folsom*, 135 Wn.2d at 674

(there is no duty to rescue "absent affirmative conduct or a special relationship"); *Brown*, 86 Wn.2d at 299 (rescuer is liable where he "increases the risk of harm to those he is trying to assist"). Thus, a failure to rescue, or a delay in arriving to rescue, cannot alone create the basis for negligence unless the rescuer also has made the plaintiff's situation worse such as by increasing the harm or inducing reliance. *Id.* at 300-01 (observing that while tort law traditionally has refused to impose liability for omissions, it has done so in circumstances where a party's promises induce reliance that causes "the promisee to refrain from seeking help elsewhere and thereby worsening his or her situation").

The Court of Appeals failed to reckon with this key distinction between acts and omissions present in the voluntary rescue doctrine and with the different bases for asserting liability in the case of a voluntary rescue as opposed to acts of general negligence. In doing so, it disrupts the careful balance

struck by *Brown*, *Folsom*, and the Restatement. This conflict merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

2. It Is Critical that the Numerous Voluntary Emergency Medical Responders in Washington Understand Their Potential Liability.

Review is also warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the balance the voluntary rescue doctrine strikes is important and serves as a potential limit on the common law liability of the many public and private entities that provide vital rescue services supporting public health and safety. The Court of Appeals decision calls into question the applicability of the voluntary rescue doctrine to all voluntary ambulance service providers in Washington. The trial court's determination, affirmed by the Court of Appeals, that the voluntary rescue doctrine does not apply to SFD as a matter of law, CP 2156, sweeps beyond this one ambulance response and will reverberate across fire departments and public health agencies throughout the state. Moreover, in light of the Norg II holding that the City is subject to the same liability as private entities

when providing emergency medical services, the trial court's ruling will also give pause to private ambulance providers. *See Norg* II, 200 Wn.2d at 758 (affirming the policy goal "that governmental entities be held liable only 'to the same extent as if they were a private person or corporation." (internal quotation omitted)).

Whether or not the voluntary rescue doctrine is applicable to ambulance service providers in Washington will undoubtedly affect whether these services are provided and how they operate. As this Court made clear in *Norg* II, providing ambulance services is not statutorily mandated or a governmental duty owed to the general public. 200 Wn.2d at 764–65. Accordingly, knowing whether and how liability arises in the provision of these services will affect the many public and private entities that do so. That knowledge could lead to changes in how public and private entities provide or contract for these services. These changes will be felt directly by

Washingtonians who rely on emergency medical services, often in their moments of greatest need.

This issue affects all Washingtonians for another reason—cost of services. Many of the providers of ambulance services, like SFD, are operated by cities and counties, some with far fewer resources than the City (which currently provides Medic One services at no cost to those receiving services). Even when ambulance services are provided by private companies, taxpayers still often foot portions of the bill, with localities contracting with private companies or neighboring localities for those services. See RCW 35.21.768 (permitting cities to levy excise taxes specifically to pay for contracted ambulance services). If the voluntary rescue doctrine's limitations on liability are not applicable to ambulance service providers—as the Court of Appeals decision suggests—this will almost certainly increase costs to taxpayers in addition to potentially reducing services. Accordingly, review of this important public issue is warranted.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts with This Court's Decision in *Norg* II.

The Court of Appeals decision misreads *Norg* II and, thus, incorrectly applies the law of the case. The superior court concluded the law of the case was "that the common law duty of reasonable care provided in the Voluntary Rescue Doctrine does not apply as a matter of law." CP 2156 (emphasis in original). The Court of Appeals affirmed that this ruling was supported by binding law of the case. *See* Appendix A. That decision is in conflict with this Court's ruling in *Norg* II.

The law of the case doctrine is a judge-made rule that provides that once there is an appellate court ruling, its holding must be followed in all of the subsequent stages of the same litigation. "Where there has been a determination of the applicable law in a prior appeal, the law of the case doctrine ordinarily precludes re-deciding the same legal issues in a subsequent appeal." *Folsom v. Cnty. of Spokane*, 111 Wn.2d 256, 263, 759 P.2d 1196 (1988). Application of law of the case is discretionary. *Id.*; *see also* RAP 2.5(c)(2) (restricting the law

of the case doctrine to allow review of earlier decision of appellate court in the same case).²

Norg II's holding addressed one narrow issue: the applicability of the public duty doctrine. The initial appeal stemmed from cross-motions seeking partial summary judgment regarding the City's affirmative defense based on the public duty doctrine. See Norg II, 200 Wn.2d at 752. This Court framed the only issue as: "Whether the public duty doctrine bars the Norgs' negligence claim against the City." *Id.* at 755. This Court broke its analysis into two sections: one on the

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