FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/17/2025 2:55 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 103737-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DELAURA NORG, as Litigation Guardian ad Litem for her husband, FRED B. NORG, an incapacitated man, and DELAURA NORG, individually,

Respondents,

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAW OFFICES OF SIMON H. FORGETTE, P.S.

By: Simon H. Forgette WSBA No. 9911 Janis M. Nevler WSBA No. 13601

BENNETT BIGELOW & LEEDOM, P.S.

By: William J. Leedom WSBA No. 2321 SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

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

D. Why Review Should Be Denied.

1. The Court of Appeals properly held the City's attempt to relitigate its duty of reasonable care was barred by the law of the case.

The Court of Appeals followed settled law in holding that the law of the case bars the City's attempt to relitigate its duty of care. "[Q]uestions determined on appeal, or which might have been determined had they been presented, will not again be considered on a subsequent appeal." State v. Clark, 143 Wn.2d 731, 745, 24 P.3d 1006, cert. denied, 534 U.S. 1000 (2001) (quoted case omitted) (Op. 5–7). The City argues that the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision conflicts with this Court's voluntary rescue cases and implicates important policy concerns

affecting both "public and private" rescuers (Pet. 3–5, 17–22), but fails to disclose that this Court relied on the very cases it cites in the City's prior appeal challenging its duty of reasonable care in responding to the Norgs' call. 200 Wn.2d at 765, ¶33 (citing Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 674–75, 958 P.2d 301 (1998) and Brown v. MacPherson's, Inc., 86 Wn.2d 293, 299, 545 P.2d 13 (1975)). Further, the City entirely ignores the policies that the Court of Appeals deemed controlling in holding its appeal barred by the law of the case.

The law of the case doctrine "serves to promote the finality and efficiency of the judicial process by 'protecting against the agitation of settled issues." *State v. Harrison*, 148 Wn.2d 550, 562, 61 P.3d 1104 (2003) (alterations and quoted source omitted). The doctrine "[f]urther[s] the goals of finality, efficiency, and fairness in the judicial process, . . . [and] helps avoid prejudice to the parties," *State v. Tyler*, 191 Wn.2d 205, 210, ¶10, 422 P.3d 436

(2018), by preventing "successive reviews of issues that a party raised, or could have raised, in an earlier appeal in the same case." *Estate of Langeland v. Drown*, 195 Wn. App. 74, 82, ¶16, 380 P.3d 573 (2016), *rev. denied*, 187 Wn.2d 1010 (2017). The doctrine "avoid[s] indefinite relitigation of the same issue, to obtain consistent results in the same litigation, to afford and to assure the obedience of lower courts to the decisions of appellate courts." *Harrison*, 148 Wn.2d at 562 (quoted source omitted).

The Court of Appeals was correct that "the City reads [this Court's] opinion too narrowly" (Op. 6) in arguing, as it does now, that "applicability of the voluntary rescue doctrine is not the 'same legal issue'" that this Court previously addressed. (Pet. 25) The City now takes this argument a step further, claiming that Division One's decision actually "conflicts with this Court's [previous] decision" in this case, and that this Court should now grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). (Pet. 23) The City's argument

ignores the entire course of this litigation, starting in 2019 with the original partial summary judgment in favor of the Norgs establishing the City's duty of care in this negligence action, which this Court affirmed in the City's first appeal.

As Division One noted, this Court's previous decision cited *Brown* and *Folsom*, "two cases that squarely address the voluntary rescue doctrine [] in concluding, 'a common law duty of reasonable care "arises when one party voluntarily begins to assist an individual needing help."" (Op. 6, quoting 200 Wn.2d at 763, ¶33 (quoting Folsom, 135 Wn.2d at 675, and citing *Brown*, 86 Wn.2d at 299)) In holding the City to a duty of ordinary care in this common law negligence action, this Court thus followed its established precedent that a duty to act reasonably arises where, as here, "a defendant takes steps to assist a person in need and acts negligently in rendering that assistance." Folsom, 135 Wn.2d at 675. (See Arg., §D.3, infra)

Regardless whether this Court mentioned "the voluntary rescue doctrine by name," its holding that the City owed the Norgs a duty of reasonable care once undertaking to assist them "is sufficient to establish law of the case." (Op. 6) "Not only is the voluntary rescue doctrine an issue that City could have raised in the prior appeal, it in fact raised the issue" previously in this Court (Op. 7), as it had in each preceding stage of the litigation. (Restatement of the Case, §C, *supra*) The Court of Appeals' adherence to the law of the case is wholly consistent with this Court's precedent and presents no issue for review.

2. The Court of Appeals could not and did not ignore the law of the case, and the City fails to advance any basis for this Court to do so now.

The City cites RAP 2.5(c) to argue that the Court of Appeals' decision to follow the law of the case as established by this Court's earlier decision was "discretionary." (Pet. 24) Not so. The Court of Appeals, like

the trial court, had no "discretion" to ignore this Court's mandate, which established the law of the case. The mandate was "binding on the lower court and must be followed." *Bank of America, N.A. v. Owens,* 177 Wn. App. 181, 183, ¶1, 311 P.3d 594 (2013), *rev. denied,* 179 Wn.2d 1027 (2014); *see also, Scott v. Amazon.com, Inc.*, __ Wn. App. 2d ___, 559 P.3d 528, 543, ¶42 (2024) ("intermediate appellate court is bound to follow the controlling case law of our Supreme Court").

While this Court may now have the discretion to reconsider its earlier decision under RAP 2.5(c), in treating its duty of care as a "novel" issue the City gives this Court no basis for doing so. The City does not assert that there has been an "intervening change in controlling precedent," or that this Court's earlier decision in this case is "clearly erroneous" and "would work a manifest injustice"—the two "historically recognized exceptions to the law of the case doctrine." (Op. 7, quoting *Roberson v. Perez*, 156 Wn.2d

33, 42, ¶¶23–24, 123 P.3d 844 (2005)) The City suggests that the courts have "broad discretion" to ignore the law of the case on grounds other than those established by RAP 2.5(c) (Pet. 24, n.2), but fails to articulate any other basis for this Court to revisit its prior decision that the City owed the Norgs a duty of reasonable care once it affirmatively undertook to come to their assistance.

This Court should not reconsider that holding, as the City's cursory argument for doing so is "not supported by argument and citation of authority." *McKee v. Am. Home Prods., Corp.*, 113 Wn.2d 701, 705, 782 P.2d 1045 (1989). Division One's adherence to the law of the case presents no issue for review under RAP 13.4(b).

3. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected on the merits the City's attempt to limit its duty of reasonable care based on the voluntary rescue doctrine.

As an alternative basis for affirming the judgment on the jury's verdict, the Court of Appeals held that the

voluntary rescue doctrine "sets forth the test for determining whether a party's voluntary undertaking gives rise to a duty to exercise reasonable care in the performance of the undertaking" (Op. 8), and that the City owed the Norgs a duty of care once undertaking a response to their 911 call and repeatedly (and falsely) assuring them that a response was imminent. The Court of Appeals properly rejected the City's argument that the rescue doctrine is a "substantive limitation on liability for entities that undertake a voluntary rescue" (Op. 8), and its related contention that a jury must therefore decide the purely legal issue whether a rescuer should be held to a duty of reasonable care. (Op. 10)

The Court of Appeals did not hold "that the voluntary rescue doctrine did not apply." (Pet. 29) It held that, as with any private entity, the City's actions in affirmatively coming to the Norgs' aid were sufficient to give rise to a duty to exercise reasonable care in its undertaking. (Op. 5)

Division One properly applied this Court's precedent and the *Restatement*, both of which establish the "test for determining whether a party's voluntary rescue gives rise to a duty to exercise reasonable care in the performance of the rescue." (Op. 8–9, citing *Folsom*, 135 Wn.2d at 676; W. Page Keeton et. al., *Prosser and Keeton on Torts* 56 (5th ed. 1984); and *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 323 (1965)).

In *Folsom*, the Court recited the general rule that there is "no legal duty to come to the aid of a stranger," 135 Wn.2d at 674, but recognized in the same sentence the corollary principle that once a defendant "takes steps to assist a person in need and acts negligently in rendering that assistance," they may be held liable for breach of a common law duty of ordinary care. 135 Wn.2d at 675; *accord, Brown*, 86 Wn.2d at 299 ("One who undertakes, albeit gratuitously, to render aid to or warn a person in danger is required by our law to exercise reasonable care in

his efforts, however commendable."); Restatement (Third) of Torts: Phys & Emot. Harm § 44 (2012) (defendant that affirmatively undertakes to take control of the plaintiff's well-being owes plaintiff duty of ordinary care).

That one who assumes a duty to act must act reasonably was the basis for the Norgs' common law negligence claim, their original motion for partial summary judgment, and their argument at every subsequent level of appeal. It is also the principle relied upon by both the Court of Appeals and by this Court in holding the City to a duty of reasonable care. (Op. 5, quoting 200 Wn.2d at 752, 766, ¶4, ¶39: "once the City undertook its response to the Norgs' 911 call, the City owed the Norgs an actionable, common law duty to use reasonable care.")

The City's assertion that there is a "key distinction between . . . liability in the case of a voluntary rescue as opposed to acts of general negligence" (Pet. 19) finds no support in this Court's precedent—and thus provides no basis for further review. The City's related argument that the jury should have been instructed on the "limitations on liability that flow from the [rescue] doctrine" (Pet. 12) confuses the role of judge and jury in a negligence action and was properly rejected by the trial and appellate court.

"Whether a defendant owes a duty of care to the complaining party is a question of law." Hansen v. Friend, 118 Wn.2d 476, 479, 824 P.2d 483 (1992); Osborn v. Mason Cnty., 157 Wn.2d 18, 23, ¶6, 134 P.3d 197 (2006) ("[E]xistence of duty is a question of law, not a question of fact."). The court, not the jury, undertakes a "careful weighing of interests" (Pet. 15) to determine whether to impose a duty of care. Affiliated FM Ins. Co. v. LTK Consulting Servs., Inc., 170 Wn.2d 442, 450, ¶13, 243 P.3d 521 (2010) (In deciding to impose a duty of care court must "balance the interests at stake.").

That careful weighing of interests was performed by the trial court, by Division One, and by this Court in this case, before the trial court directed the jury on remand to determine, under pattern instructions, the extent to which the City's negligence was responsible for the "harm caused by its breach of the common law duty of reasonable care in the performance of a voluntary rescue." (Op. 9) The City has never explained how, for purposes of the voluntary rescue doctrine, it could cause harm to the Norgs without increasing the risk of harm, and substantial evidence supported the jury's finding, as a matter of fact, that the City negligently caused harm to the Norgs. (CP 2276–77)

This juridical process provided the protection "from excessive liability that the City claims is missing here." (Op. 9) Emergency responders can avoid liability by the simple expedient of reading, locating, and going to the address they are given. The City's hyperbole—no different than that it raised in its previous appeal to this Court—that holding

the City to a duty of reasonable care will "reverberate . . . throughout the state" (Pet. 20), ignores that courts are fully capable of balancing the interests and weighing public policy in deciding whether to impose a duty of care in tort.

Our courts engage in this analysis all the time, as reflected in Division One's decision Zorchenko v. City of Federal Way, 31 Wn. App. 2d 390, 549 P3d 743, rev. denied, 599 P.3d 486 (2024). The City's contention that Zorchenko is "in direct conflict with" the Court of Appeals' (and, necessarily, this Court's) decision in this case (Pet. 28) is baffling. Zorchenko instead illustrates how courts draw the line between undertakings that trigger a duty of reasonable care and inaction that does not. Division One relied on *Norg* in rejecting the appellant's contention that every 911 call "trigger[s]' a specific duty owed to him by the City" and that "the City owed a common law duty of care to the Norgs, as individuals, simply because Delaura dialed 911." Zorchenko, 31 Wn. App. 2d at 396, 398, ¶14, ¶17.

Zorchenko noted that in Norg, "the City, through its dispatcher, established a direct and particularized relationship with the Norgs." 31 Wn. App. 2d at 398, ¶17, quoting Norg, 200 Wn.2d at 762–63, ¶¶30, 33. By contrast, the plaintiffs in Zorchenko could cite "nothing in the record to indicate a prolonged or in-depth interaction with the 911 dispatcher." 31 Wn. App. 2d at 399, ¶19.

That distinction—based on the nature and extent of the interaction between plaintiff and defendant—is fully supported not only by this Court's precedent, but by hornbook tort law. It is "unlikely that any court will ever hold that one who has begun to pull a drowning man out of the river after he has caught hold of the rope is free, without good reason, to abandon the attempt, walk away and let him drown" William L. Prosser, *Handbook of the Law of Torts* 348 (4th ed. 1971). Yet that would be the consequence of the City's misguided effort to, in the absence of a statutory directive, remove from the courts the

responsibility of determining whether a defendant's undertaking to come to a plaintiff's assistance establishes a tort duty of reasonable care.

Here, the City's dispatcher repeatedly assured Ms. Norg that "help was on the way" during a 17-minute direct and particularized interaction in which the dispatcher repeatedly and emphatically instructed Mrs. Norg to stay in the apartment, continue attempts at CPR, and await what turned out to be the much-delayed arrival of aid, all while she questioned the dispatcher about the whereabouts of the SFD responders. The jury found, based on largely undisputed evidence, that the City was negligent, and under pattern instructions limited the Norgs' damages to those proximately caused by the City's negligence (Op. 9) just as this Court intended in rejecting the City's previous appeal and remanding for trial.

E. Conclusion.

"It is ancient learning that one who assumes to act, even though gratuitously, may thereby become subject to the duty of acting carefully . . . " (Op. 4, quoting *Glanzer v*. *Shepard*, 233 NY. 236, 239, 135 N.E. 275 (1922) (Cardozo, J.)) Division One properly applied that principle here in rejecting the City's attempt to relitigate the issue of duty in this common law negligence action, both under the law of the case and on the merits.

The City has lost its argument that it could owe the Norgs no duty of care once in this Court, twice in the Court of Appeals, and twice in the superior court. Eight years after its misfeasance caused Mr. Norg's devastating injuries, it is time for the City to accept responsibility for its negligence that a properly instructed jury found to be the proximate cause of the Norgs' damages. This Court should deny the petition.

I certify that this answer is in 14-point Georgia font and contains 5,000 words, in compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b).